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District of Columbia 
Office of the State Superintendent of Education 

Office of Dispute Resolution 
810 First Street, NE, 2nd Floor, Washington, DC  20002 

(202) 698-3819   www.osse.dc.gov 
 

__________________________________________________________________     
Parent, on behalf of Student,1  ) Room: 2006 (11/7), 2004 (11/21) 

Petitioner,     ) Hearings: 11/7, 11/21 (2016) 
      )  HOD Due: November 30, 2016  
 v.     ) Hearing Officer: Michael Lazan  
      )  Case No.: 2016-0212 
District of Columbia Public Schools,  ) Issue Date: November 30, 2016  
      )  
Respondent.     )                                                    

 
HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION 

 
I.  Introduction 

 
 This is a case involving a student who is currently eligible for services as a 

student with Other Health Impairment.  (the “Student”)     

           A Due Process Complaint (“Complaint”) was received by District of Columbia 

Public Schools (“DCPS” or “Respondent”) pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities 

Education Act (“IDEA”) on September 6, 2016.  On September 22, 2016, Respondent 

filed a response.   A resolution meeting was held on September 27, 2016.  The resolution 

period expired on October 6, 2016.            

II.  Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

 This due process hearing was held, and a decision in this matter is being rendered, 

pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Improvement Act (“IDEIA”), 20 U.S.C. 

Sect. 1400 et seq., its implementing regulations, 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300 et seq., Title 38 of 

                                                 
1Personally identifiable information is attached as Appendix A and must be removed prior to public 
distribution. 
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the D.C. Code, Subtitle VII, Chapter 25, and the District of Columbia Municipal 

Regulations, Title 5-E, Chapter 30. 

III. Procedural History 
  

 On September 29, 2016, this Hearing Officer held a prehearing conference. 

Attorney A, Esq., counsel for Petitioner, appeared.   Attorney B, Esq., counsel for 

Respondent, appeared.    A prehearing conference order issued on October 3, 2016, 

summarizing the rules to be applied in this hearing and identifying the issues in the case.    

 There were two hearing dates in this case, November 7, 2016, and November 21, 

2016.   It had been anticipated that the testimony would end after the first hearing date.  

When it did not, a new date was set, and Respondent moved for a continuance without 

objection from Petitioner.   On November 19, 2016, I granted an Interim Order on 

Continuance Motion changing the HOD date to November 30, 2016.   

This was a closed proceeding.   Petitioner was represented by Attorney A, Esq.  

Respondent was represented by Attorney B, Esq.   Petitioner moved in Exhibits 1-80. 

There were objections to Exhibits 15, 68, 75 and 77 on relevance grounds.   These 

objections were overruled.  Exhibits 1-80 were admitted.   Respondent moved in Exhibits 

1-41.  There were no objections.  Exhibits 1-41 were admitted.  Both sides submitted 

written statements after the hearing which were received on November 25, 2016.   

 Petitioner presented as witnesses:  Witness A, a psychologist (expert: psychology 

and testing students for special education services); Witness B, Director at School C; 

Petitioner; Witness C, an advocate (expert: special education programming); and Witness 

D, an advocate.   Respondent presented: Witness E, a special education teacher; Witness 

F, a speech language pathologist, and Witness G, a social worker. 
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                          IV. Credibility. 

 In the main, witnesses were credible and reasonably consistent with each other on 

all issues of material fact.   However, I found Witness A to be inconsistent.  At one point, 

the witness indicated that the Student was not testable.  At another point, the witness 

testified that the present levels on the IEPs were deficient because standardized testing 

was not reported.  This witness also testified that the Student has made no progress in the 

past five years, but did not base this position on any facts or coherent theory.   Instead, 

Witness A simply said that the Student has not progressed since kindergarten since the 

Student is on a kindergarten level.     

V. Issues 

 As identified in the Prehearing Conference Summary and Order and in the Due 

Process Complaint, the issues to be determined are as follows: 

Did the Student’s IEPs dated December 9, 2015 and June 15, 2016 provide 

inadequate present levels of performance, insufficient special education hours in written 

instruction, insufficient special education hours outside general education, insufficient 

behavioral supports, insufficient testing accommodations, an insufficiently therapeutic 

setting, no small group instruction, inappropriate goals in regard to behavioral issues, and 

an inappropriate eligibility category? If so, did DCPS violate 34 CFR Sect. 300.320, 34 

CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, and act in contravention of some of the 

principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 

(1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE? 

As relief, Petitioner seeks a psychoeducational assessment, an FBA, funding for 

services by a reading specialist, and compensatory education.   
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  VI. Findings of Fact. 

1. This Student is an X-year old who, as a result of the current IEP, is 

eligible for services as a student with Other Health Impairment.    The Student has been 

receiving special education services since pre-school and has significant emotional and 

academic issues.   It is hard for the Student to sit still for any length of time, and the 

Student will shut down when material is presented that is unfamiliar or hard to 

understand.   The Student is consistently disruptive to other children and teachers in the 

classroom and is currently functioning in the kindergarten to first grade level in all 

academic areas.   (Testimony of Petitioner; Testimony of Witness E; P-7-2) 

 2. During the 2014-2015 school year, the Student attended School A.    The 

Student made improvements in some academic areas, but had “ups and downs.”   The 

Student received “1” grades all academic subjects in the end of year report card.   The 

Student was able to follow simple directions and sit for short period of time, but had 

difficulty sitting still and following rules.  The Student had a significant amount of 

emotional distress, behavioral difficulties, hyperactivity, and attentional difficulties.   (P-

11-10; P-47-1)   

  3. For the 2015-2016 school year, the Student continued at School A.   The 

July, 2015 IEP (amending the IEP written in January, 2015) found the Student to be a 

student with Specific Learning Disability and recommended five hours of reading 

instruction inside general education, five hours of math instruction inside general 

education, with 120 minutes of behavior support services and two hours per month of 

speech and language services.  A location with minimal distractions was recommended.  

This program required the Student to be in general education classes without support for 
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about half the time in reading and math, and for all the time in social studies and science, 

which would often require reading.   (Testimony of Witness E; P-11)  

 4. Immediately, the Student had problems at the school.  The Student would 

get lost in the large classroom, which could have almost thirty children in it.   When 

Witness E, the Student’s special education teacher, would enter the classroom to “push-

in,” the Student would “frequently” be on the floor.   It took Witness E ten to twenty 

minutes to get the Student to sit down and do work.  Then, if the Student actually did 

work, the assigned worksheets would end up only twenty to thirty percent complete.  The 

Student would refuse to work when the assignment was too hard, and the Student would 

hide in the classroom or simply leave it during a lesson.   The Student would also get into 

fights at the school, and talk back to the teachers in belligerent fashion.    The parent was 

called frequently as a result.  (Testimony of Petitioner; Testimony of Witness E; 

Testimony of Witness F; P-7-2; P-9-2) 

 5. Part of the reason the Student misbehaved so frequently was because the 

Student could not understand much of the work.   The Student could not write a sentence 

at this time.  When focused, the Student could only read at a first-grade level.   In math, 

the Student would do some grade level work, but was generally functioning on the first- 

grade level.   Testing during the school year revealed that the Student was below the .1 

percentile in math with calculation skills that were “extremely limited to very limited.”  

(Testimony of Witness E; P-35-1) 

6. The Student’s behavior issues were not limited to academic classes.  The 

Student would also have issues in “specials,” and recess.  The severity of the issues led 
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Witness E, to try a variety of strategies that were not on the IEP, including a rewards 

system and individualized instruction.  (Testimony of Witness E; P-35-1) 

  7. An IEP meeting was held for the Student on December 9, 2015.  Witness 

E was at the meeting, and she described the Student’s difficulties in detail.   The team, 

however, but did not consider a change in placement, did not give the Student any 

additional special education hours, and did not add any behavioral services.   The 

Student’s eligibility classification was also not changed.   Instead, the team reduced the 

Student’s special education hours inside general education to eight (four hours of reading, 

four hours of math), and added two hours of special education instruction outside general 

education.   The IEP did contain a three-paragraph narrative describing the Student’s 

behavioral issues and indicating that the Student will respond to a behavioral chart and 

incentives.  This IEP contained goals that are at a third to fifth grade level, with some 

first and second grade level goals.  Testimony of Witness E; P-10; R-5) 

 8. This IEP could not be implemented at School A because the school does 

not have self-contained special education classes outside general education.   As a result, 

in February, 2016, the IEP was amended back to the way it was, i.e., to require ten hours 

of specialized instruction inside of general education.  (P-9)  

 9. The Student continued to do very poorly at school.  There was no 

improvement in behavior or academic performance, though school staff noticed that 

the Student would do better at certain unexplained times.  Staff surmised that this was 

due to the Student taking medication on that date.    However, the Student’s stepfather 

indicated to Witness A, in front of Petitioner, that the Student was not regularly taking 

medication.   (Testimony of Witness E)   
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10. A Functional Behavioral Assessment (“FBA”) was then conducted, in or 

about March, 2016.   The FBA noted that the Student was defiant and opposition, and 

used verbal and physical aggression in the school.    It characterized the Student’s 

behaviors as “very damaging and destructive” and most likely to occur when the Student 

was asked to complete an assignment.  The behaviors occurred from ten to thirty minutes, 

and from four to five times a day.  It determined that the Student’s behavior was to 

escape and to address sensory needs.   The FBA noted that the Student requires a high 

amount of sensory input.   The FBA determined that the Student felt that he/she was 

unfairly blamed for behaviors.  It indicated that a rewards system could have some 

positive impact on the Student’s behavior.  A Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP”) was 

written in tandem with the FBA.  (Testimony of Witness G; R-14) 

11. A progress report on goals was written for the Student on April 29, 2016.   

The report indicated that the Student had made no progress in writing, no progress on 

most of the reading goals, but some progress in mathematics.   The Student was 

“regressing” in all behavioral goals at this time.  (P-29)    

12. Another IEP meeting was held on June 15, 2016.   At this meeting, the 

Student’s IEP was changed to reflect fifteen hours of specialized instruction outside of 

general education (5 hours in math, reading and writing) with no changes in behavioral 

support services or speech and language therapy.   A location with minimal distractions 

was again recommended.   The IEP contained much of the exact same language as the 

IEP written in December, 2015.   The Present Levels of Performance sections were 

almost entirely unchanged.   The three-paragraph narrative on the Student’s behavioral 

performance had also not been changed.   (P-7)  
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 14. The Student was given psychological testing by DCPS on or about July, 

2016.   This testing found that the Student was at the first-grade level in all areas, 

including literacy areas, math areas, and writing.  Spelling and calculation levels were 

even lower, at the kindergarten level.  The testing revealed a full-scale IQ of 69.   

Suggesting significant regression in academics, the evaluator noted that, in the Student’s 

previous testing in 2013, the Student had displayed “solid cognitive skills.”   The 

evaluator also noted that, for the instant tests, the Student showed “significantly below 

average skills,” and “significantly delayed academic functioning.  (P-13-11)  

15. The evaluator provided twelve different recommendations for the Student 

going forward, including a Conners-3 behavioral scale, an adaptive behavior scale to rule 

out intellectual disability, evidence based programs to increase phonemic awareness, use 

of multi-sensory instruction, behavioral plan that is consistently implemented, and the use 

of structure in the classroom with visual and auditory examples and materials.  (P-13-13-

15)  

 16. For the 2016-2017 school year, the Student is attending School B.  The 

Student’s behavioral problems have continued at this school.   The parent is called 

frequently because of the Student’s misbehavior.   The Student complains that the staff at 

the school are engaging in teasing because of the Student’s academic and behavioral 

difficulties.  The Student frequently leaves the classroom, which is a general education 

classroom.   (Testimony of Petitioner; Testimony of Witness D; P-76) 

 17. During the last three school years, the Student has made no progress in 

reading.   The Student has remained at “Level C” throughout this time.   (P-7-2) 

VII. Conclusions of Law 
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 Based upon the above Findings of Fact, the arguments of counsel, as well as this 

Hearing Officer’s own legal research, the Conclusions of Law of this Hearing Officer are 

as follows: 

  DCPS has the burden of persuasion on the appropriateness of the existing or 

proposed IEP program or placement, though Petitioner must establish a prima facie case 

before the burden of persuasion falls on DCPS. The burden of persuasion shall be met by 

a preponderance of the evidence.  D.C. Code Sect. 38-2571.03 

 In matters alleging a procedural violation, a hearing officer may find that a child 

did not receive a FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies: (i) Impeded the child's right 

to a FAPE; (ii) Significantly impeded the parent's opportunity to participate in the 

decision-making process regarding the provision of a FAPE to the parent's child; or (iii) 

Caused a deprivation of educational benefit.   34 CFR Sect. 300.513(a). 

Did the Student’s IEPs dated December 9, 2015 and June 15, 2016 provide 
inadequate present levels of performance, insufficient special education hours in 
written instruction, insufficient special education hours outside general education, 
insufficient behavioral supports, insufficient testing accommodations, an 
insufficiently therapeutic setting, no small group instruction, inappropriate goals in 
regard to behavioral issues, and an inappropriate eligibility category? If so, did 
DCPS violate 34 CFR Sect. 300.320, 34 CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, and 
act in contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. 
Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE? 

 
The role of the hearing officer is to determine if the individualized educational 

program developed through the Act's procedures is reasonably calculated to enable the 

child to receive additional benefits.   Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 

176 (1982) The IEP should be both comprehensive and specific and targeted to the 

Student’s “unique needs.”  McKenzie v. Smith, 771 F.2d 1527, 1533, D.C. Cir. 1985); 

N.S. ex rel. Stein v. District of Columbia, 709 F.Supp.2d 57, 60 (D.D.C. 2010); 34 CFR 
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Sect. 300.320(a)(2)(B) (the IEP must contains goals that meet each of the child's 

educational needs that result from the child's disability); 34 CFR Sect. 

300.324(a)(1)(iv)(the IEP must address the academic, developmental, and functional 

needs of the child).  

 In S.S. ex rel. Shank v. Howard Road Academy, 585 F. Supp.2d 56, 66-67 

(D.D.C. 2008), the Court found that the measure and adequacy of an IEP decision must 

be determined as of the time it was offered to the student.   Citing to Circuit court 

decisions, the Court found that an IEP should be judged prospectively to avoid “Monday 

morning quarterbacking.”   See Thompson R2-J Sch. Dist. v. Luke P., 540 F.3d 1143, 

1149 (10th Cir. 2008); Adams v. Oregon, 195 F.3d 1141, 1149 (9th Cir. 1999); Carlisle 

Area Sch. V. Scott P., 62 F.3d 520, 530 (3d Cir. 1995); Roland M. v. Concord Sch. 

Comm., 910 F.2d 983, 992 (1st Cir. 1990).     

  a. December, 2015 IEP. 
 
 The Student began the 2015-2016 school year at School A in a general education 

classroom, with ten special education hours to be delivered through a “push-in” model.  

The classroom contained about thirty students in it.  Since the academic portion of the 

week lasted for well more than ten hours, and there were many hours during the week 

that the Student was in the classroom assigned to grade level academic work without any 

special education assistance.     

This did not work for the Student.   From the start, Witness E reported that the 

Student was belligerent and that “most of the time” the Student did not do well.  In fact, 

when Witness E would enter the classroom to “push-in,” the Student would “frequently” 

be on the floor.   The Student was so consistently disruptive it took her ten to twenty 
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minutes just to get the Student to sit down and do work.  Then, if the Student actually did 

work, the worksheets would end up only twenty to thirty percent complete.  The Student 

would also hide in the classroom or simply leave it during a lesson.   Moreover, these 

behaviors were not limited to academic periods.   The Student also misbehaved in 

“specials” and in lunch.  By December, 2015, it was clear that a new program had to be 

tried, with more behavioral support, more academic support, and new behavioral 

strategies.     

 However, in December, the team did not meaningfully change the Student’s 

services.   The IEP made the minimal change that two of the Student’s special education 

hours were to be provided “outside” of general education instead of “inside” general 

education.  However, even this mandate could not be satisfied at School A.   As a result, 

the December IEP was amended two months later to go back to ten hours of specialized 

instruction inside general education.   For the remainder of the school year, the Student 

received the exact same inappropriate program that had not worked from August, 2015 to 

December, 2015.    The result was a school year in which the Student consistently 

engaged in behaviors that were “damaging and destructive” -- and did not progress at all 

in reading or writing.   Clearly, the Student needed more special education hours, in a 

more “therapeutic” setting, than was offered.          

      There are other issues with this IEP as well.2   This IEP contained no testing 

accommodations for the Student during state testing – even though the Student was 

                                                 
2 Petitioner also argued that the present levels of performance in this IEP were inappropriate because there 
was no standardized testing reported, but there is no such requirement for present levels.   The record 
shows that the Student’s performance levels were updated from the Amended IEP in July, 2015.   The 
Academic-Mathematics section clearly describes the Student’s ability to perform addition and subtraction.  
The Academics-Reading section describes the Student as at a “C” level for 90 percent of the time, and 
discusses the Student’s abilities to sound out letter sounds and answer “wh” questions.    The Academics-
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recommended for the Regular Statewide Assessment with accommodations.   Petitioner 

also contended that the Student should be eligible as a student with Multiple Disabilities.   

While it is true that disability category does not drive the program, Petitioner is correct 

that the Student should be determined to be eligible as a student with a Multiple 

Disabilities.    This category is appropriate when a student has “concomitant 

impairments,” “the combination of which causes such severe educational needs that they 

cannot be accommodated in special education programs solely for one of the 

impairments.”  34 CFR Sect. 300.8 (a)(1)(c)(7).   Given the length and extent to which 

this Student has behaved poorly, this is a Student who can certainly be classified as a 

student with an Emotional Disturbance.3  Moreover, since the Student had been 

determined to be eligible for services as a student with Specific Learning Disability just 

five months earlier, that classification was also obviously appropriate for the Student.        

 Parenthetically, Witness E pointed out on a number of different occasions her 

suspicion that the Student’s difficulties were a result of a lack of medication.   I can 

                                                 
Written Expression section is thin, as it describes only that the Student can copy text and will not initiate 
writing in 4 out of 5 tries.  However, given the Student’s low levels in writing, it is unclear what more 
could be written in this section.  Petitioner also contended that the goals in this IEP were inappropriate 
since some of the goals were well above the Student’s level.   However, I found the testimony of Witness E 
compelling in this regard.   This witness testified that she put the higher goals down because the Student 
could sometimes reach the target, and also because the goals were aspiration.   Petitioner’s experts, in 
particular Witness A, argued that the writing goals were inadequate, but did not clearly explain her position 
on these goals.   In fact, a review of the goals shows that they are coherent and targeted to the Student’s 
needs, in particular copying and sentence writing.   
   
 
3 Emotional disturbance means a condition exhibiting one or more of the following characteristics over a 
long period of time and to a marked degree that adversely affects a child's educational performance:  
An inability to learn that cannot be explained by intellectual, sensory, or health factors; An inability to 
build or maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships with peers and teachers; Inappropriate types of 
behavior or feelings under normal circumstances; A general pervasive mood of unhappiness or depression; 
A tendency to develop physical symptoms or fears associated with personal or school problems.  34 CFR 
Sect. 300.8(c)(4)(i) There is no dispute that the Student has exhibited inappropriate types of behavior in the 
classroom over a long period of time to a marked degree.   Although the Student’s behavioral issues were 
not as severe in the 2014-2015 school year, the Student still experienced a significant amount of emotional 
distress, hyperactivity, and attentional difficulties at that time.      
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certainly understand Witness E’s point, and I will add that this is not a case where a 

parent is objecting to a student taking medication on ethical or philosophical grounds.   

Nevertheless, a hearing officer cannot order a parent to medicate a child, and a school 

district cannot avoid liability under the IDEA because a parent does not make sure that a 

student is taking his or her medication.         

 As a result of the foregoing, DCPS denied the Student educational benefit, and 

therefore a FAPE, through the IEP dated December, 2015. 

 b. June, 2016 IEP. 

As was clear from the discouraged testimony of Witness A, the Student did poorly 

during the 2015-2016 school year.  The FBA, written by Witness G, confirms this to be 

true.   The FBA found that the Student was defiant and oppositional, and used verbal and 

physical aggression in the school.    The behaviors were a constant problem: they 

occurred from ten to thirty minutes, and from four to five times a day.   The Student also 

made no progress in reading or writing, and was measured as below the .1 percentile in 

math calculations in March, 2016.   Accordingly, DCPS offered a new program -- a 

program of special education services inside general education for fifteen hours a week 

outside general education. 

However, to this hearing officer, this new program did not go far enough.   First, 

though the program offered fifteen hours of specialized instruction inside special 

education, DCPS did not show that all academic instruction would be completed in those 

fifteen hours.    This is a must for this Student, who does not write, who reads on a first-

grade level, and who misbehaves in a sometimes-dangerous way when material is too 

difficult.   To put this student in a general education class – and without any support 
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during some academic time -- is to set the Student up for failure.   It is noted that this 

Student did poorly even in non-academic general education “specials” classes.   

Additionally, the IEP did not recommend any new approach to the Student’s 

behavioral issues for the 2016-2017 school year.   Witness G said that he created a BIP 

for the Student back in March, but there is no copy of this BIP in the record.   During 

testimony, I asked Witness G what this BIP added to the program.  Witness G was unable 

to explain how this BIP would change anything, and indeed, there was no improvement 

in the Student’s behavior after the issuance of the FBA and the BIP.    This IEP should 

have included a new behavioral program to at least try to manage the Student’s behavior 

more appropriately in the upcoming year.       

There are other problems with this IEP.   The June, 2016 IEP has the same 

problem with respect to testing accommodations that the December, 2015 IEP had, 

namely that the IEP recommended accommodations and then did not provide any.    

Additionally, the “Areas of Concern” sections, i.e., the present levels of performance 

sections, are clearly inappropriate in this IEP.   A comparison of the December, 2015 IEP 

and the June, 2016 IEP reveals that nothing was changed in any of the five “Areas of 

Concern” sections in June, 2016.   Even if the Student’s performance did not materially 

change during this time, DCPS should have reviewed and revised the language to reflect 

what the Student had done in the past six months.   These sections are entirely identical, 

so much so that both IEPs refer to the Student as “ ” in the section entitled “Area 

of Concern: Emotional, Social and Behavioral Development.”4    

                                                 
4 Some of the goals are the same as the December, 2015 IEP, such as math goals # 1 and # 2, reading goals 
# 2 and # 3, and both writing goals.  However, some of the goals are different, and there is nothing in the 
record to explain why any of these goals are inappropriate.   It is possible to repeat IEP goals if the Student 
has not mastered the goal, and this Student did not master any goals during the 2015-2016 school year.            
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It is noted that, in the current school year, the Student has continued to have 

difficulty.   Though the Student is now as School B, the parent continues to get calls, and 

there is uncontested testimony from Witness D that this school has not even implemented 

the IEP.   According to Witness D, this Student remains in a general education 

“inclusion” setting to this day.  DCPS did not rebut this testimony.    

   As a result of the foregoing, I find that DCPS denied the Student a FAPE through 

its IEP dated June, 2016.     

VIII.  Relief. 

As relief, Petitioner seeks a psychoeducational assessment, an FBA, funding for 

services by a reading specialist, and compensatory education.     Petitioner also seeks 

placement at School C, a non-public school.   

 In Branham v. District of Columbia, 427 F.3d 7 (D.C. Cir. 2005), the Circuit laid 

forth rules for determining when it is appropriate for IHOs to order funding of non-public 

placements.  First, the court indicated that “(i)f no suitable public school is available, the 

[school system] must pay the costs of sending the child to an appropriate private school.” 

Id. At 9 (citing Jenkins v. Squillacote, 935 F.2d 303, 305 (D.C.Cir.1991)).   The Circuit 

then explained that such relief “must be tailored” to meet a student’s “unique needs.”  Id. 

At 11-12 (citing to Florence County School Dist. v. Carter, 510 U.S. 7, 16 (1993)).    To 

inform this individualized assessment, courts must consider “all relevant factors” 

including the nature and severity of the student's disability, the student's specialized 

educational needs, the link between those needs and the services offered by the private 

school, the placement's cost, and the extent to which the placement represents the least 

restrictive educational environment.  Id. at 12.    
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 Petitioner presented the testimony of Witness B, who testified that School C costs 

about $40,000.    The class sizes at the school are capped at eleven, and there are always 

two staff members in class, sometimes three.   All of the teachers at the school are 

certified.   The school offers reading remediation, including “Wilson” reading instruction, 

and small group “pull-outs.”  However, this school did not unequivocally represent that 

the Student was a good fit for it.   Instead, the school’s position was that a “thirty-day 

review” was necessary in this case to make sure that the Student is placed appropriately 

at the school.   The school mentioned that there are measures that could keep the Student 

in class, but was not specific on exactly how they would keep the Student from eloping 

except to mention that they would intercept the Student in the hallways.  The school 

noted that the Student visited the school twice.  While the first day went well, on the 

second day he attended, the Student was impulsive and intimidated other children who 

“seemed weaker.”    

 A more unequivocal affirmation of a school’s appropriateness is necessary in this 

instance, where the school district has never even tried to place the Student in an in-

district full-time special education program.  Given the Student’s extremely low 

academic levels and troubling behavioral issues, the District should try to place this 

Student in a full-time special education program in a public school.  This program should 

have a small structured classroom environment, a low teacher to student ratio, support, 

and a totally modified curriculum so the Student will not be frustrated in class.    The 

emphasis has to be on structure, with visual and auditory examples and materials, as 

articulated in the well-written report of Evaluator A.   Also as part of the Student’s 

program, a detailed BIP should be written to establish a rewards system.   This rewards 



17 
 

system should be based on specific reinforcers that are of particular interest to the 

student.   The BIP shall also provide the Student with specific and substantial access to a 

sensory diet.  The BIP shall also provide for access to a counselor or social worker, as 

needed, to address the Student’s social and emotional issues, with a minimum of sixty 

minutes of counseling per week.     

 Petitioner also seeks compensatory education.   In regard to compensatory 

education, courts and hearing officers may award “educational services to be provided 

prospectively to compensate for a past deficient program.” Reid v. District of Columbia, 

401 F.3d 516, 521-23 (D.C. Cir. 2005).  In every case, however, the inquiry must be fact-

specific and, to accomplish IDEA's purposes, the ultimate award must be reasonably 

calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have accrued from special 

education services the school district should have supplied in the first place. Id., 401 F. 

3d at 524; see also Friendship Edison Public Charter School v. Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 

121, 125 (D.D.C. 2008) (compensatory award must be based on a "'qualitative, fact-

intensive' inquiry used to craft an award 'tailored to the unique needs of the disabled 

student").  

 A Petitioner need not "have a perfect case” to be entitled to a compensatory 

education award. Stanton v. District of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 201 (D.D.C. 2011). 

Under the IDEA, if a Student is denied a FAPE, a hearing officer may not “simply 

refuse” to grant one. Henry v. District of Columbia, 55 IDELR 187 (D.D.C. 2010).   

Some students may require only short, intensive compensatory programs targeted at 

specific problems or deficiencies. Reid, 401 F.3d at 524. 
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 Petitioner submitted a compensatory education plan at Exhibit P-80b, but this 

plan, written by Witness A, applies the wrong standard.   Witness A’s proposal is for the 

Student to receive compensatory education in the amount of an hour for each hour “in 

which the student attended under the incorrect special education label.”  This formula 

uses an approach that has been specifically rejected by the D.C. Circuit, which mandates 

a “qualitative” approach rather than a “quantitative” one.    Moreover, this formula 

premises compensatory education on the eligibility category, which is not relevant in 

determining the extent to which a student has been denied a FAPE.    

 Witness A’s testimony was entirely different, however.   In testimony, Witness A 

indicated that the Student should receive “at least” 300 hours of compensatory tutoring 

by a reading specialist based on the past year’s lack of growth.   Though DCPS is correct 

that it is inappropriate to consider the time before December, 2015 in formulating an 

award, I agree with Witness A that tutoring by a reading specialist is appropriate relief for 

this student.   As a result, I will reduce the award of compensatory tutoring to 200 hours 

of individualized tutoring by a special education teacher with a specialty in reading.   

Such teacher shall have at least ten years of experience in teaching reading to students 

with disabilities. 

 Petitioner also seeks a psychological assessment.   Witness A’s report states that a 

psychological assessment is needed to “determine the student’s socio-emotional and 

cognitive functioning with greater accuracy.”   There is no question that the student’s 

academic levels are low across the board and that the Student has many maladaptive 

behaviors in the school.   It is unclear what yet another psychological assessment would 

necessarily add.   
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I find the request for an FBA to be more compelling.   Though Witness G created 

an FBA in March, 2016, this FBA was not paired with an effective BIP, and Witness G 

himself testified that an FBA and BIP should be written in tandem.    Accordingly, I will 

order that Petitioner receive an independent FBA and BIP, by an outside provider, to 

address the Student’s behaviors at school.   This BIP shall: 1) establish a rewards system 

based on specific reinforcers that are of particular interest to the student; 2) provide the 

Student with substantial access to a sensory diet; 3) provide for access to a counselor or 

social worker as needed to address the Student’s social and emotional issues, with a 

minimum of sixty minutes of counseling per week.     

IX. Order 

 As a result of the foregoing: 

 1. Respondent is deemed to have denied the Student a FAPE;  

 2. The Student is hereby awarded two hundred hours of compensatory 

tutoring, to be provided by a special education teacher with at least ten years’ experience 

in teaching reading; 

 3. The parent is entitled to an independent FBA and BIP, to be paid for 

directly by DCPS at usual and customary rates in the community; 

 4. The BIP shall establish a detailed rewards system for the Student.   This 

rewards system should be based on specific reinforcers that are of particular interest to 

the student.   The BIP shall also provide the Student with specific and substantial access 

to a sensory diet.  The BIP shall also provide for access to a counselor or social worker as 

needed to address the Student’s social and emotional issues, with a minimum of 60 

minutes of counseling per week;      
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  5. Within 15 days after completion of the BIP, DCPS will reconvene the IEP 

team and rewrite the IEP to classify the student as a student with Multiple Disabilities, 

reflect the Student’s current levels in all areas, to require a “full-time” special education 

placement (i.e., all classes should be outside general education), to require that the 

Student be provided with substantial access to a sensory diet, and to require that the 

Student receive a location of services that contains a structured classroom and provides 

for multi-sensory instruction;    

 6. At the IEP meeting, DCPS shall identify a location of services that can 

provide the Student with all the required services in the IEP and BIP;   

 7. Petitioner’s other requests for relief are hereby denied. 

 Dated: November 30, 2016 

       Michael Lazan      
                                                                                     Impartial Hearing Officer 
   
cc: Office of Dispute Resolution  
 Attorney A, Esq. 
 Attorney B, Esq. 
 OSSE Division of Specialized Education  
 Contact.resolution@dc.gov 
 Chief Hearing Officer 
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X.  Notice of Appeal Rights 

 
 This is the final administrative decision in this matter.  Any party aggrieved by this 

Hearing Officer Determination may bring a civil action in any state court of competent 

jurisdiction or in a District Court of the United States without regard to the amount in 

controversy within ninety (90) days from the date of the Hearing Officer Determination in 

accordance with 20 USC §1415(i). 

Date: November 30, 2016 
   
       Michael Lazan 
               Impartial Hearing Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 




